REFORMING THE RUSSIAN GAS SECTOR: HOW TO DEAL WITH A STATE MONOPOLY

By Anna Yastrebova

Submitted to Central European University Department of Public Policy

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Public Policy

Supervisor: Andreas Goldthau

Budapest, Hungary 2010

Abstract

Russia has the largest natural gas reserves in the world. Its proven reserves account for about one-quarter of the world total, it is also the largest natural gas producer and exporter. Notwithstanding Russia's abundance in gas, the challenges currently faced by the gas sector and its major player, the state-owned Gazprom, are many and considerable. However, despite some developments in recent years, real structural reforms have never been implemented. Therefore, the thesis sets out to define the obstacles to reform by examining present major sector challenges regarding pricing, investment and monopoly issues and by defining what considerations (state or corporate interests) are imperative on these three levels. Based on the analysis of at what points the state and Gazprom policies coincide or confront, the paper aims at identifying at what level some reform efforts are likely to succeed.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	4
CHAPTER 1 – REFORM OF NATURAL MONOPOLY - A THEORETICAL OVERVIEW	
1.1 The Concept of Natural Monopoly	
1.2 State Regulation	
1.2.1 Methods of regulation	
1.2.2 Alternatives to Regulation - Ways of Loosening Control	13
1.3 Traditional (Anglo-Saxon) Model of Utility Industries' Reform	
1.4 Barriers to reform – political constraints	15
CHAPTER 2 – OVERVIEW AND KEY CHALLENGES OF THE RUSSIAN GAS SECTOR	17
2.1 History of the Russian Gas Industry: 'National Champion' in the Making	
2.2 Gazprom's Paradox	20
2.3 Key Challenges of the Sector	25
2.3.1 Investment policy	25
2.3.2. Pricing Scheme	29
2.3.2.1 Unified gas pricing	31
2.3.2.2 Transmission Tariffs for Independent Producers	33
2.3.3 Gazprom's Monopoly	34
2.3.3.1 Domestic Monopoly	34
2.3.3.2 Export Monopoly	39
CHAPTER 3 – EVALUATIONS OF REFORM OPTIONS	42
3.1 Domestic price increase	42
3.2 Structural reform	43
3.3 Separating the infrastructure	44
3.4 Third-party access to the pipeline	44
CONCLUSION	46
DECEDENCE LICT	40

INTRODUCTION

Russia has the largest natural gas reserves in the world. Its proven reserves account for about one-quarter of the world total (World Energy Outlook 2008, 294); it is also the largest natural gas producer and exporter. Despite the impressive size and potential of the industry, increasingly, concerns are being expressed about the future sustainability of the sector in its present form.

Gazprom it is responsible for 83% of total gas production in Russia (Gazprom Q&A 2009); it owns and regulates the Unified Gas Supply System, the largest gas transmission system on the globe; the company also sells more than half of the total amount of produced gas on the internal market, so it is possible to say that domestic gas market is virtually Gazprom's market. The most important moment is the price that the company gets for its gas. Pricing is a particularly sensitive issue for the domestic gas sector as economy relies heavily on subsidies in the form of cheap gas provided by Gazprom. Gas exports to Europe turn into profits for Gazprom making up the largest part of Gazprom's gross proceeds - 82 percent as shown by the 2008 operating results (Gazprom Considers Pricing Policy for Natural Gas and Oil Products Supplied to Russian Consumers in Crisis Environment October 29 2009). For this reason, oftentimes Gazprom is referred to be stuck between its largest market in terms of volume, for which it actually loses money, and its largest market in value (Europe) (Victor 2008: 6). In some ways Gazprom represents explicitly state interests. Politically reasoned, most of the extracted gas is sold to domestic users as gas prices for them remain at artificially low levels. However this and other contradictory and at first sight irrational policy, for a profit-oriented company, continue to emerge and persist.

Natural gas represents a pillar of the state economic policy with Gazprom being the biggest market in terms of sales, industrial energy consumption, thus making it the center of widely discussed attempts for domestic gas market reform (see e.g. Ahrend and Tompson (2004) and

Stern (2005)). Despite some developments in recent years, real structural developments (unbundling of Gazprom) have never been implemented, on the contrary, the government moved on to foster control over the company. In 2005, the firm was nominally privatized, with 51% shares being currently state-owned and the Russian state taking part in Gazprom's decisions on a political, strategic, and economic grounds (Sagen, Tsyagankova 2006: 4). At the same time, though Gazprom is considered to be leveraged by the state, there is a high extent of interdependence, for instance: Gazprom exports to Europe are a tremendously significant source of earnings to the state budget (estimations are around 20-25% in recent years) and a way to cover losses from sales at domestic market. Such a relationship may indicate that the gas sector is ruled by often contradictory incentives, political and economic. Such a picture of the Russian gas industry prompts the first question: Does the current gas sector model of confluence of state policy and corporate strategy permit to introduce reform to the sector or is it an obstacle to any veritable reform efforts? Following the first question, the second research question the study sets is: If any reform at all is possible at present, then what kind of reform is likely to be implemented in the Russian gas sector?

In order to answer the first question, the study examines what considerations (state or corporate interests) are imperative on different levels, that is at investment policy, price-setting, and monopoly issue (access to pipelines and sales) levels. Based on analysis of at what points the state and Gazprom policies coincide or contradict each other, the thesis aims to identify at what level and what kind of development is possible.

The paper is structured as follows. It will start with the introduction of natural monopoly concept and overview of traditional ways of dealing with natural monopolies in utility sector as the paper builds around the preliminary assumption that Gazprom is a typical example of natural monopolies, retained from the Soviet times, and therefore its problems could be potentially resolved with traditional tools of tackling them. The second chapter will provide

the comprehensive analysis of the Russian gas sector. The last chapter presents analysis of traditional reform approaches while identifying their likelihood to be put in practice in the Russian gas sector context. The final part will elaborate and conclude on findings of the study.

CHAPTER 1 - REFORM OF NATURAL MONOPOLY - A THEORETICAL OVERVIEW

1.1 The Concept of Natural Monopoly

It is generally accepted that there exists a monopoly over the Russian gas industry. Consequently, it grew to be a widely diffused opinion that Gazprom, the biggest structural element of the industry, is a natural monopoly. Therefore, this study adopts a natural monopoly approach to the reform of the Russian gas sector as a basic analytical framework in order to exemplify the common specifics and deficiencies that arise from natural monopolies and identify common practices in dealing with them. In this view, this section will first introduce the concept of natural monopoly and then proceed with the discussion of the approaches to its regulation and alternative 'remedies' for dealing with natural monopoly problem. Finally, this paper will discuss their applicability in the Russian context.

Utilities such as natural gas, electricity, common-carrier transportation services, water supply, and telephone industry were traditionally in state or municipal property and constituted the so-called natural monopoly segment of the economy. The reasons given for the emergence and existence of natural monopolies are as follows:

1. Under the traditional approach, *economies of scale* due to *specific technology of production* is a main defining characteristic of a natural monopoly.

According to the neoclassical tradition, the natural monopoly has got fairy broad interpretation being viewed as an extreme form of imperfect competition, in which there are markets where competition is undesirable and even impossible. The natural monopoly arises and exists when economies of scale are so great that one firm can supply the entire market, with lower costs per unit of output and thus with minimum social cost than competing firms would (Joksow 2005: 17-18; Butyrkin 2003: 3).

¹ For example, this position is described in detail in a work by with *S. Fischer, R Dornbusch*, R *Schmalensee*. *Economics*. 1998 p. 203-204, 772

In other words, ownership of small scale is considered to be less efficient, as it would not be profitable for new firms to compete. Also, public is considered to be better off having only one firm (DiLorenzo: 43). This argument is particularly pertinent to the topic under discussion - the Russian gas sector - the price of building and maintaining another nationwide set of gas pipelines, competing with the existing Unified Gas Supply System, would be too high as such delivery services have high fixed costs.

- 2. Another feature intrinsic to the natural monopoly industry is the existence of high barriers for entry of new firms which "naturally" hinder competition in this sphere (Gorokhova 2007: 45). The "height" of such barriers depends on the volume of investment needed to set up an infrastructure network. This infrastructure investment is always less attractive to investors than other sectors of the economy, which is mainly explained by long payback periods, high risk levels, prolonged term of depreciation of fixed capital (Gorodetskii, Pavlenko 2001: 51-52).
- 3. The next characteristic that distinguishes the natural from simple monopoly is inelastic demand for its goods. This argument together with the rationale for absence of competition due to specific technology of production, are both reflected in the definition of natural monopoly given in the Russian legislation (Law on Natural Monopolies 1995, Article 3). Because of the product's uniqueness, buyers lack close alternatives for it, and thus have to buy it from the monopolist at the prices that it dictates. This inelasticity potentially allows to generate a monopoly profit, which does not come from increase in efficiency, but from monopolistic overpricing. And, apparently, such specific serves as a rationale for direct state regulation (Deryabina 2006: 104)
- 4. Some definitions of the natural monopoly put forward the importance of social welfare, considerations of economic benefits for the state and the population, as well as national security. A number of works devoted to the corporate structure of economies and the

peculiarities of corporate governance in large companies highlight the crucial role of natural monopolies as a guarantor of social and economic development of the state and society (Crook 2000: 270). The factor of great social importance can only be applied to limited number of goods and services. Some firms can be protected from competition on the strength of political motives to guarantee stable profitability of services important from the public interest perspective. This argument speaking in favor of the need to maintain a natural monopoly is especially popular among Russian specialists writing about natural monopolies in Russia, and this feature is considered to be one of the essential roles of a natural monopoly with regard to the Russian gas giant Gazprom (Malinnikova 1998: 516-535). Much attention and sensitivity on the part of the state having the gas sector as a natural monopoly could be explained by this very attribute. In Russia natural monopolies have been treated as strategic sectors of economy (Gorokhova 2007: 47). After the collapse of the Soviet Union they were least affected by the decline in production. They have provided for a significant part of the GDP; this has been particularly so in case of Gazprom. Some experts argue that deterioration of production and economic performance of these sectors would have contributed to the deepening crisis in the economy and deterioration of social welfare. They have always been major budget revenue generating industries (Malinnikova 1998: 516-535).

In recent years, the concept of natural monopoly in its classic treatment has been criticized with indication of the need for a more narrow definition. It should be noted that natural monopoly does not inevitably coincide with the industry as contrasted with the initial definition. And therefore the natural monopoly problem is limited to some of its parts but not to the whole firm. As a consequence, the issue of regulation does not coextend through the industry (Helm, Kay, Thompson 1989: 7). There is no pure group of monopolies while most regulated industries represent a combination of natural-monopoly and natural-competition elements (Shepherd 1990: 498). Given that there is state regulation in place and it is

apparently unavoidable, competition can be introduced, but it is not easy to define the proper extent of regulation in respect to complex industries (i.e. what parts are to be regulated and on what terms). But on the whole, problems of restructuring and reforming the natural monopolies are associated with their infrastructure component (Gorokhova 2007: 46; Gorodetskii and Pavlenko 2001: 137-138). It has been suggested to limit natural monopoly only to transportation networks whereas such elements of the industrial production infrastructure as generating, producer, service and operator companies using the networks and terminals for the production of goods and services may be regarded as a sector where it is possible to introduce competition (Karpov 2008: 84; Gorodetskii Pavlenko 2001: 51). However, it is often the case that a firm with natural monopoly characteristics takes over all characteristics of a true monopoly in the end (definition of natural monopoly, energy dictionary). As a result, artificial type of monopoly emerges when the single dominant company establishes barriers to prevent competition from rivals or is protected from entry by some statutory provisions. Such an argument could be applied and is useful when analyzing the situation and reform process in the Russian gas sector. Speaking of energy sector in general, except for electricity and gas grids, it is argued that its considerable part can be referred to artificial monopoly; there is in fact little proof that natural monopoly exists in electricity generation, extraction and delivery of oil and coal and gas distribution (Helm, Kay, Thompson 1989: 7). For that reason, these parts of industry, natural and so-called artificial monopolies, require different regulatory remedies. In short, natural monopoly is tackled by direct regulatory price controls, rate of return and output, while potentially competitive segments are addressed with competition policy aimed at diminishing barriers to entry (Depoorter 1999: 505-511).

1.2 State Regulation

Natural monopoly concept poses dilemma for public policy-makers. From economies of scale argument, a single firm is a more efficient supplier in the market and more effective in production. Thus, social welfare is better achieved by a single firm supplier. At the same time, its privileged position and the absence of competition present a concern that the company has the potential and incentive to abuse its exclusive power to maximize profits (Depoorter 1999: 498). For this reason, it was traditionally thought that such situation requires certain control measures on the part of the state in order to achieve maximization of social welfare, which is to say, to balance the interests of consumers and regulated entities (Waterson 1988: 62). Above all, considerations of ensuring allocative efficiency and greater distributional equity provide rationale for government intervention in natural monopoly's activities. Another objective of state regulation is to create incentives for increased consumption of a certain regulated good using price constraints. A fourth reason is to develop confidence in the stability of the business environment, especially in a politically dynamic one (Bradburd 1995: 248). It is important to note that for those purposes all regulation models envision setting up an independent regulatory commission. It should also be stressed that independence of such an entity is of crucial importance as their decisions often involve contradictory interests of different groups (Butyrkin 2003: 6).

1.2.1 Methods of regulation

Regulation by state and federal agencies traditionally encompasses control on entry and pricing (Berg, Tschirhart: 291; Waterson 1988: 26)

Pricing. In essence, pricing schemes for products of natural monopoly created by monopoly power aim to reduce the losses to society, and at the same time, not undermine the efficiency and sustainability of production (Deryabina 2006: 108; Butyrkin 2003: 7).

From imperfect competition viewpoint, price control to be effective should be guided by the following principles: first of all, it is necessary that natural monopoly prices are very close to the level of marginal costs; secondly, normal rate of return needs to be ensured; and third, their production needs to be efficient (Fischer, Dornbusch, Schmalensee 1995: 265). In accordance with these objectives, regulating authorities have to maintain such a level of prices for natural monopoly products, which will be both close to marginal cost and at the same time will receive sufficient revenues for costs recovery. In the Russian natural monopoly sector, like in many other countries, two-part tariff system is being employed which consists of a fixed fee for providing service and a variable fee for each unit of service. Another possible method to cover the average costs for the industry while maintaining a socially acceptable tariffs for certain groups of consumers is cross-subsidization. In the Russian gas sector this practice is still used whereby it provides good residential customers with lower rates and compensates them with higher tariffs for industrial users. However, the crosssubsidization may hamper further development of not only the regulated monopoly but the whole economy as it is not possible to constantly solve the profitability problem of power, railroad industries as well as gas sector at the expense of industrial users (Deryabina 2006: 108).

The alarming fact about cross-subsidization is that it creates economic inefficiencies by giving wrong price signals about incremental costs to supported loss-making industries (Depoorter 1999: 505). High dependence of the subsidized consumers on such a structure of economy makes the whole system, to say the least, vulnerable to great instability in case of any disruptions, when the firm will no longer be able to derive revenues from the market. In the best case, prices for all consumers will have to be increased, or, in the worst case, this could lead to the economy disruption. Given the Russian economy's heavy dependence on gas supplies (from the Gazprom monopol)y, and still existing practice of cross-subsidization, the

consequences of significant financial disruptions in profits from lucrative export market could be detrimental for subsidized enterprises as well as households. In theory, economic regulation is necessary to balance the interests of consumers (in a form of affordable prices) and regulated entities (e.g. financial performance, attractive to lenders and new investors); determine fair tariffs for different consumers categories; encourage an enterprise to reduce costs and excessive employment; improve service and efficiency of investment; and create conditions to encourage competition (Butyrkin 2003: 4).

According to article four of the Russian law on natural monopolies, the state regulates natural monopoly activities in the following fields: transportation of oil and oil products via trunklines; transportation of gas via pipelines; transmission services of electric and heating energy; railway transportation; services of transport terminals, ports and airports; services of public electrical and postal services. On the basis of this official document, it can be concluded that accepted/best standards of natural monopolies regulation got fixed in the Russian law and therefore the Russian state complies with them (norms entrenched in Russian laws correspond to accepted standards of nm regulation). The Federal law on natural monopolies adopted by the State Duma in 1995 states that the government established federal executive bodies which are to regulate and control activities of natural monopolies like Gazprom.

1.2.2 Alternatives to Regulation - Ways of Loosening Control

At present, existence of competition is viewed as a criterion of the economy's functional effectiveness (Kamynina Lapynin 2007). The centerpiece of all reform options is their split into industrial and infrastructure parts. Positive effects of introducing elements of competition are expected primarily due to overcoming the so-called price discrimination.

Reform of natural monopolies in most countries involves *deregulation* which denotes replacement of state controls with effective competition. The critique of political, economic and institutional aspects of regulation served as a driving force behind the development of deregulation options. Some theorists even argued that regulation does more harm than good (i.e. Posner 1999). In recent decades many countries were searching for methods of regulation that would enable to introduce elements of competition, differentiation of methods of state control and partial privatization.

Privatization means shifting ownership from public to private. *Liberalization* implies reducing/loosening or abolishing control on entry into area of traditional monopoly's domination².

1.3 Traditional (Anglo-Saxon) Model of Utility Industries' Reform

In addition to the theoretical overview of natural monopoly, the following section lays the principles of the gas sector reform (as part of natural monopolies' transformation with regard to network energy industries) which was considered essential to overall success or failure of economic reforms which Russia embarked on in its transition to a market economy after the disintegration of the Soviet Union. The energy policy reform approach, which was put on the agenda by mostly foreign financial institutions, like OECD, IMF, and the World Bank, represented the competition-oriented, liberal concept of the reform that significantly relied on experiences of the US and the UK (Hirschhausen, Engerer 1998: 1116).

The traditional concept of the Energy Utility reform can be summarized in the following main principles:

Energy price reform: entails increase in price levels in order to cover operation costs and support investment. Prices for household and industrial users are to be raised to correspond to

.

² For more information, see Waterson 1988: 122-123.

the long-run marginal cost structure while subsidies through price regulation should be eliminated (Energy prices fixed at true economic value are believed to encourage allocative efficiency);

- Creation of an energy law which determines the rights and obligations of all energy sector players;
- Commercialization/privatization of energy enterprises as a tool of promoting efficiency and reducing state ownership: for privatization to be effective, main aspects of system for commercial operation (major regulations and pricing) and basic restructuring need to be established;
- Introduction of competition with new sector entrants to be granted an equal access to transportation network;
- Establishment of an efficient system of regulation on the part of independent institutions to prevent monopoly abuse and to control the quality of service.

Based on these principles, a reform program implies a very direct course of corporatization, privatization and competition. It is expected to unbundle and thus create a set of independent enterprises at the level of production and distribution, when it is technically possible, and to expose to competition with each other and new independent gas producers. Transportation network can remain a natural monopoly while being opened for the third-party access. It is expected that under oversight of independent regulatory bodies, competition gets boost. Therefore, this model aims to build competition at gas distribution, extraction and trading levels (Gray 1995: 37; Hirschhausen, Waelde 2001: 95-96; Thompson 2004: 9-11).

1.4 Barriers to reform – political constraints

However, special consideration in this paper should be given to barriers to monopoly reform in its traditional understanding when it is projected onto the Russian gas sector. Previous experience has already proved that not all reform options are applicable in this context. The

traditional reform approach takes as a premise that *there is* state regulation in place. It may be the case that the best reform choices are not feasible due to political constraints, more specifically, due to high politicization of the industry and the gas monopolist itself.

The whole discussion of applying 'best practices' is largely doomed to come to a standstill for the simple reason that the case of the Russian gas sector may not fall under the classic definition of this phenomenon of natural monopoly.

As some experts point out, there is a core problem of applying the traditional model (i.e. OECD/IMF/World Bank model which is Anglo-North Amer. in nature) in the Russian context (Stern 2005: 187; Hirschhausen, Engerer 1998). Application of the term 'highly regulated' in describing the Russian gas sector is inaccurate as it implies that Gazprom is regulated by Anglo-Saxon style independent agencies (which exist but are granted with nominal regulatory powers). Therefore, Gazprom is not 'highly regulated', but is rather immediately controlled by the government.

CHAPTER 2 - OVERVIEW AND KEY CHALLENGES OF THE RUSSIAN GAS SECTOR

The following chapter presents the multifaceted and multilevel analysis of the Russian gas sector starting with the overview of the history of the industry, then outlining the Gazprom's stance in the sector and finally providing in-depth description of the current developments within the sector at different levels.

2.1 History of the Russian Gas Industry: 'National Champion' in the Making

The study does not set explaining reasons of reform failure in the gas sector as an ultimate goal of the analysis. However, retrospective look at history of the gas industry allows to better understand current state of affairs in light of its inherited specifics, the complex relationship between Gazprom and the Russian state formed by strategic choices the Russian government made for the gas sector in the past. Also, understanding why reform in the Russian gas sector appears/proved to be so arduous at earlier stage may help to identify the present bottlenecks to feasible reform and ways to deal with them.

Nowadays Russia possesses one-quarter of the world natural gas reserves, it is the global largest gas exporter and producer³, and it is also only second to the United States in the gas consumption (World Energy Outlook 2008: 295).

However, it was not always so. From the very beginning it is important to note that in most of the Soviet times oil, not gas, was main focus as strategic asset and therefore principal export item to the West until major gas fields were discovered and potential significance of gas was realized (Victor 2008: 9; Stern 2005: 363).

......

³ According to the latest estimates, the United States passes Russia as the largest producer (peakoil.net, January 12, 2010)

The oil crisis of 1973 could be considered as a landmark in Soviet energy policy that made raising gas production a priority in order to take the place of oil (after the oil shock oil price fell by half) and, along with that, increased price for Soviet gas which in its turn provided the USSR with opportunity to create substantial hard currency flows. While oil production showed alarming signs of gradual decrease, gas industry continued to expand. Moreover, within country's fuel balance, only gas achieved the five-year target of 1976 which together with intensive putting into operation of the giant gas fields and building up transcontinental transportation network made gas 'a star performer' (Gustafson 1989: 139).

Although production fell in the 1990s, the decline was not as harsh as for other energy sources and other economic sectors. However, drop in oil production was much more significant than in gas: oil output reduced drastically from 569 mln. tons a year in 1988 to 301 mln. tons in 1996, while gas production downturn was not extreme - from 643 bcm. in 1991 to 571 bcm. in 1997 (Gaddy and Ickes 2005: 570; Victor 2008: 10). Harsh drop in oil output, together with oil price, resulted in near disappearance of oil rents (the Russian oil was in terrible plight and was in a pressing need of restructuring and investment), while natural gas rents continued to flow and maintain the economy. Dramatic economic decline after the collapse of the Soviet Union developed significant gas surplus in the 1990s, which allowed boosting exports outside the CIS. In its turn, this made it possible for Russia to extend its role as the biggest gas exporter and make some additional money for the Russian state (Victor 2008: 10). Gustafson's remark accurately reflects the then state of affairs that the Soviet economy would have been in a big trouble if there had not been natural gas (1989: 137). With the replacement of "Soviet" to "Russian" the statement continues to hold true for the current role of the gas for the industry. Natural gas comprises a considerable share of the state budget and is a pillar of the rest of the economy.

In the middle of the nineties the budget deficit amounted to 20% of GDP and country was virtually out of cash. At this point, in shares-for-loans privatization scheme state shares in oil companies were sold to Russian private banks for credits to the government. Unlike oil, which was privatized to a large extent and thus generated badly needed investments, the gas sector preserved the state control. The USSR Ministry of the Gas Industry was transformed into Gazprom. Gazprom went through only initial stage of privatization which transformed it into a single entity, a joint-stock company with 40% of shares left in the state control for minimum of three years.⁴

In such a manner, as quite many experts note, the dominant national gas company embedded the Soviet paternalistic economy well into the capitalist age (Kramer 29 December 2008).

In sum, there are a few reasons named for why Gazprom was not split up. They shall be briefly highlighted. The government did not wish to lose grip over the gas industry or establish competition which in turn could lessen its control. Secondly, domestic gas was too cheap and the industry was believed to be too important to the rest of economy for market elements to be introduced. The fact that it was continued to be regarded as one of a few stable industries in an unstable economy, eliminated by default the possibility of risky and radical moves. Even in the aftermath of 1998 financial crisis which badly hit the country, Russian leader agreed to give away only 5% of Gazprom's shares (Victor 2008: 48; Hirschhausen, Waelde: 2001: 94, 101).

Regardless of seeming stagnation in gas industry regulation – in comparison with more dynamic liberalization in some Western and Central European states – some progress has been achieved since 1990s (Some changes to the company's structure have been introduced, but for the most part to Gazprom's liking).

⁴ Established by the Presidential Decree of 1992 and Resolution of the Council of Ministers of February 1993 http://old.gazprom.ru/articles/article4076.shtml

In 2000-2002 the potential of separation of competitive and monopolistic elements followed by legal unbundling of the company, was much discussed. In 2001 two reform options of Gazprom were brought forward. One of them was proposed by Gazprom itself. The main points are: the structure of the concern is optimal and needs only minor transformations (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). The second option was developed by the Ministry of Economic Development. The main idea is as follows: the restructuring of Gazprom should be implemented in order to separate the monopoly component from the market ones. The transportation system was regarded as a natural monopoly element, while producing, processing and selling natural gas was to be transferred into private hands and develop in a competitive environment. This program was developed with the advice of the IMF. However, it became obvious that the state is not ready to render control over the strategic sector: furthermore, the government expanded its role by becoming the main shareholder in 2005. The concept of legal unbundling was given up in favor of accounting unbundling and functional division (Mitrova 2009: 23).

As a result, the country has got its "national treasure", the biggest gas company in the world, a company that remained almost unchanged from the Soviet times. Gazprom's profile and businesses are given closer consideration in the next section.

2.2 GAZPROM'S PARADOX

When it comes to the Russian gas industry and issue of its reform, the discussion will inevitably and predominantly concern Gazprom. For this reason, in order to fully grasp the challenges the sector faces, it is necessary to first lay out Gazprom's place in the Russian gas sector and the company's paradoxical, at a first sight, behavior and intricate relationship with the state.

Gazprom holds 70% of Russia's proven reserves and 83% of total gas production, owns major gas processing facilities, owns and manages high-pressure pipelines, wholly owns natural gas storage capacity, and legally retains export monopoly through a subsidiary Gazpromexport Gazprom does not fully own distribution companies. But since the nineties it has gradually obtained 'golden share' in over 70% of gas distribution networks, and keeps control over the main ones (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). As head of the Energy Research Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences notes, the company is the finest example of an ex-Soviet vertically integrated state-controlled enterprise dominating both downstream and upstream sectors (Mitrova 2009: 23).

The company's grip over the gas sector has strengthened in the past three years even though oil companies and independents have increased their production share. Early in the 2000s, Gazprom embarked on the programme of re-acquiring control of some fields and production companies given up by former executives of the monopolistic concern which resulted in a purchase of big number of stakes in major independent production companies (Stern 2005: 190).

Gazprom targets to go beyond solely gas-related activities and declares its strategic goal as becoming a leading global energy company by entering new markets, expanding the range of business activities and pursuing security of supply (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). And the stated strategy of becoming a multi-energy company is being supported by various acquisitions in electric, oil and coal sectors: a purchase of over 75% of shares in one of the major oil firms Sibneft, initiation of own electricity supplier, move to a joint venture with SUEK (Siberian Coal Energy) (Locatelli 2008: 21).

Moreover, Gazprom's presence expands well into a non-energy sector. For a presumably commercial entity, it is extensively involved in non-core activities which are rather more

appropriate and normal for a state: it builds up its stakes in construction, media, metallurgical, agricultural and banking spheres, to give only a few examples⁵.

In this respect, the remark by former head of the RAO UES, Anatoly Chubais, made in reaction to the announcement of the SUEK deal, appears to be very much to the point:

"The situation does not seem right when Gazprom's business goes well in oil, petrochemical, media, and coal sectors while its business goes wrong with just one minor article – with gas".

(Rubanov, Sivakov, Vinkov 19 February 2007).

The company's profile and activities discussed above prop up the arguments that at the present time there is tendency towards the merge of the state and energy corporations. The situation around Gazprom's businesses clearly indicates that Gazprom, which combines a powerful political lobby with information monopoly in the gas industry and an excess of noncore assets, represents the link between commodity-dependent economies and politics (Svyatenkov 29 March 2007).

According to Western standards, the company in fact has very weak corporate governance as they do not seem to be able to influence Gazprom's investment and other decisions⁸. This may clarify the reasons why Gazprom is accountable to political administration (with the Russian state being an owner of 51% of shares) rather than its shareholders, even though they

-

⁵ Curiously enough, the Russian energy giant, instead of the rejected Belarusian company, is building some facilities for the Winter Olympics in Sochi. Gazprom has its own private army. The company is the single largest owner of agricultural lands in the country, having 2000 cows and 3000 pigs. It is also the owner of a brewery and a sausage factory. It is making investments that have quite an explicit political rationale: in 2005-2006, it expanded media assets by having purchased Izvestia, Komsomolskaya Pravda, the popular Russian newspapers. By 2006, 38% of Gazprom's employees were working in its non-core businesses (the latest data found, Viktor, p 34-35).

⁶ Translation by the author

⁷ The remark made by President of the National Strategy Institute Mikhail Remizov

⁸ While being highly in debt and asking for government bailout as a result of financial crisis and decline in revenues, the company's officials state that Gazprom still intends to pursue its new and costly pipeline projects, which raises questions regarding their efficiency (Grib 9 February 2009; Kramer 29 December 2008).

have 49% of shares. And most importantly, it is due to the belief that Gazprom's viability as a firm is rooted in its political connections. Therefore, Gazprom's management cannot be regarded as an example of weak control on the part of shareholders; it would be more appropriate to call it "false governance" (Victor 2008: 7). This situation around company's behavior could be accurately described by the following observation:

"It has many of the attributes of a company, like outside shareholders. It files accounts. It talks to investors. But the economics of what it does have very little resemblance to a profit maximizing firm" (Elder January 13 2009) co. in Huffingpost).

contradiction of The inherent its management In some Gazprom ways, represents explicitly state interests. Politically reasoned, most of the extracted gas is sold to domestic users as gas prices for them remain at artificially low levels which are still not sufficient for cost recovery. In this sense, it does not entirely fit the monopoly pattern as it is out of capacity to set its price and to choose not to supply the domestic market. Arguably, many respects the company acts not out of profit maximization considerations but rather out

Of the recent and eloquent examples in support of the notion is the gas deal reached by Gazprom and Naftogaz Ukraine during the visit of President Medvedev to Ukraine in the end of April 2010. The Russian side agreed to sacrifice 40 billion dollars in revenues in the next 10 years by selling natural gas to Ukraine at 30% discount in exchange for an extended Russian Black Sea Fleet base in the Crimea. The contract was criticized by some Russian experts, who already noted that it was not profitable for the budget, which, according to estimates by the Russian Ministry of Finance, would have to compensate Gazprom about 4 billion dollars annually due to the monopolist's losses. Prime Minister Vladimir Putin admitted that losses for the Russian budget were significant because of the discount, but stressed that Moscow would cope with them.

of political needs. In some cases the company strikes deals unfavorable in terms of its direct business but apparently sound and important in terms of Russian state geopolitical aspirations (in the near abroad).

_

⁹ Statement by co-founder of Firebird Asset Management, a New York-based fund that invests in Russia

Another example of politically-reasoned policy is long-term contracts on Central Asian gas and oil-linked export prices. Recent changes in the natural gas market, as well as economic crisis, put additional pressure on the company while exposing contradictory nature of its management and uncovering divergences between the political strategies and business goals. With the European market moving towards gas spot market which turned out to be more flexible and cheaper, Gazprom found itself in an unfavorable position with its long-term 'take-or-pay' contracts and export prices linked to world prices for oil. As a result of falling oil prices, falling exports and production, Gazprom might lose 62 - 91 billion dollars for 2009 which significantly reduces the income of a monopolist (Evplanov 7 July 2009). The company is willing to preserve its dominant position on the European market by advocating the idea of a new formula for calculating gas prices. Moreover, as some experts believe, the company's budget is strongly undermined by acquisition of expensive Central Asian gas that Gazprom is forced to sell at a loss. The turnaround for Gazprom has been devastating to the company's business model. Now, as Andrew Kramer pointed out, the political goals of Gazprom's business in the former Soviet Union will cost the company (May 16 2009).

On the other hand, it is important to emphasize that it is not invariably politics determining Gazprom's behavior, but also the other way around. Gazprom is frequently referred as a quasi-ministry (Grigoryev 2007: 3041), a state within a state that regulates itself. Though formally there is a regulatory body, the Federal Tariff Service, which is in charge of deciding domestic gas prices and transmission tariffs, Gazprom holds the information about the sector and therefore the tariffs and prices are set in consultation with the company (ibid). Also, Gazprom appears to be able to control the adoption of laws concerning the gas industry and therefore block those which could limit its monopoly power. This remark made by the head of the Russian Federal Antimonopoly Service in the reaction to another postponement of adoption of rules of non-discriminatory access serves as an evidence that regulatory bodies

are in fact have nominal power over decision-making process than the company does: "I have no idea how soon it can be realized. Gazprom hampers the process" (Kozyrev 29 October 2009)¹⁰.

In this case, the regulatory capture theory¹¹ can be well applied and the so-called regulation becomes a pure theory.

As could be seen from the discussion above, it appears that oftentimes the state turns a blind eye to Gazprom's monopolistic behavior; however, in return, the company runs policies which contradict its commercial interests but finely embrace political agenda of the state. Such confluence of different goals and interests pursued by stakeholders of the sector seems if not to aggravate the problems in the gas industry and Gazprom in particular, then block adoption of the needed optimal policies. The following section will particularly elaborate on the challenges of the sector.

2.3 Key Challenges of the Sector

Notwithstanding Russia's abundance in gas and the seeming success and power of Gazprom, the challenges currently faced by the gas sector are many and considerable. The section will elaborate on the current challenges faced at three major dimensions: investment policy, pricing policy, and monopoly issue. This analysis will help to identify what interests – state or corporate—dominate at each level.

2.3.1 Investment policy

For a long time company's investment performance has been a matter of primary concern and puzzled many foreign observers as Gazprom was not investing adequately in new deposits despite the looming gas crisis, declining fields and also despite high earnings from export

_

¹⁰ - the statement well go into the "paradox" section, pointing to the own interests Gazprom has, and that it is not always politics determining Gazprom's actions, but also vice versa. You can give a neatly nuanced picture here

¹¹ See Posner 1999

sales (Victor 2008: 6). While the economic crisis and drop in the European demand may have diffused the pressure around Gazprom's capacity to meet future growing demand and thus urgent need to invest in new fields, and while Central Asian gas has so far allowed to delay developing new fields and real reform of the domestic sector, these trends do not take the overall fundamental problem of investment and its timing off the agenda.

Experts say that the slowdown in investments jeopardizes not only the further development of the gas industry, but industrial production on the whole (The Council of Federation, the Parliamentary Round-Up, # 11(89)).

Main operating gas fields are at the stage of declining production. The degree of depletion in 2008 was around 60 - 80% and investments (Morozova 6 October 2009). Even if the issue of new fields development fell by the wayside in the short-term, there is a compelling need of investments in decaying infrastructure: about 70% of high-pressure networks were put into operation before 1985 and about 15% of them were already worn out by 2002 (IEA 2002:118). Transmission system of Russia is operated over 50 years. And depreciation of its fixed assets, according to various estimates, now ranges from 46 to 62.5% (Ruchkin 1 October 2009). Therefore, gas companies, and Gazprom in particular, are facing acute need for major investments in reconstruction and re-equipment of production facilities, gas storage and transportation, exploration, gas supply and processing.

In this light questions are still being asked on the capacity of the national company to face up the considerable financial needs to prevent the increase in accident rate of the worn-out facilities and renew the major gas deposits developed under the Soviet days.

In the fall of 2009 Gazprom's board of directors approved changes to the investment program and budget of the company. The total investment program is to be reduced by 17%. Adjusted capital investments is by 30.9% lower compared with the previous version of the financial plan (ibid) and twice the size smaller than expected under the Russian Energy Strategy.

However, the gas monopoly decided to increase the amount of funds reserved for long-term investments to 9 billion dollars, that is for the purchase of new assets (Rubanov 5 October 2009).

In a recent study on the shortage of financial investments in the gas industry experts from the Institute of Natural Monopolies in Moscow, note that in the medium term, Gazprom's planned investment will be one and a half times lower than required for the stable development of the sector indicators. Cutback in main investments may lead to significant decrease in levels of production already by 2015. This may result in reduction of the gas share in the country's GDP by half and decline in GDP by at least 3-4 percent (Institute of Natural Monopolies 30 September 2009).

However, the lack of investment is apparently determined not by short-term difficulties, but rather by the strategy of the gas company which managed to accumulate about \$ 10 bln of additional debt even in times of favorable environment (Rubanov 5 October 2009). The Russian gas company is already heavily indebted, however, on closer examination its investment strategy seems to be somewhat irrational and obscure from a commercial point of view. For instance, in 2005-2006, the corporation's expenditure on outside purchases was higher than its spending over the past 10 years on bringing new fields on stream. Money has been directed on consolidation of hydrocarbons industries rather than on long-term investments in the gas sector (Victor 2008: 21).

As analysts note, Gazprom would have had enough funds for the development of Yamal¹², if the company had focused its attention on production instead of dispersing its capital on the purchase of numerous assets and capital-intensive projects with questionable profitability. More recently, a monopoly moved the launch of pilot projects in Yamal Peninsula (Rubanov 5 October 2009). Such examples back up the sentiments about Gazprom turning into a parallel

-

¹² The Yamal peninsula in Arctic Russia contains the biggest gas reserves on the planet

power system and a tool for state power persons as the structure of Gazprom's business in such cases appears to rest on exploiting national capital (that is mineral resources and infrastructure) as corporate one (Gazprom as a Model of the RF 29 March 2007).

Development of Yamal fields and announced plans of the government to share the resources with external companies touch an important issue of the Russian state policy with regard to investments and represent the case of the Russian state's external investment policy in times of crisis.

Clearly, mineral resources have a fundamental value for the Russian government, just judging from their significance as a budget item. Based on the law on Subsoil Resources, the government has a right to propose the development of conditions for inviting bids and auctions and terms of licenses for the use of mineral resources. In 2008 the bill on foreign investment in strategic industries came into effect that clearly demonstrates the trend towards renationalization. According to the new law, a foreign investor intending to buy a stake of over 50 percent in an enterprise in one of 42 strategic sectors (which include oil and gas) will have to obtain state approval. State-controlled foreign companies will be asked to gain permission to buy more than 25 % of shares in companies of strategic sectors (List of Russia's Strategic Industries May be Shortened 2 June 2008).

The Federal bill also introduced amendments to the law "On the Continental Shelf of the Russian Federation". The government secures the right to distribute sites of the continental shelf of federal importance. Provisions about earlier practiced auctions and competitions were abandoned. In theory, the new law should simplify the procedure of providing sites, which in turn should speed up the beginning of works on the shelf. But the new law imposes restrictions on companies seeking to develop a shelf. It may be only a company registered in Russia where more than 50 percent of shares owned by domestic entities, and the state reserves the right to be able to directly or indirectly control them (excerpts of the law of 18

July 2008 published in the Russian Newspaper). Obviously, such changes play into hands of the state-controlled Gazprom and Rosneft which are most likely to be receiving rights to develop prospective shelf deposits while foreign companies will be able to participate in their development only as contractors engaging in infrastructure, providing equipment and technologies. Such developments openly confront the principle of introducing competition in potentially competitive industry segments, thus the state itself in such a fashion strengthens the artificial monopoly power of the leading gas company.

In this context, conclusions made by some commentators about economic crisis inducing the Kremlin to relinquish control over part of its strategic assets to foreigners appear to be not correctly reflecting the situation and motives of the Russian state. Apparently, the change in paradigm - move towards liberalization - is not expected. The current situation can rather be explained as an attempt to tackle the crucial challenges that Gazprom is facing in Europe and looks like a major attempt of Gazprom's expansion (giving away its assets in exchange for access to new markets), that is the continuation of its strategy of recent years, and also shows the fundamental shortage of technologies needed to develop gas which is difficult to access (Rubanov 29 October 2009). Control over large objects will not be surrendered to foreign companies, especially since the law prohibits access to strategic gas-producing projects; therefore, foreign companies can only count on the role of junior partners in the scheme (ibid).

2.3.2. Pricing Scheme

Federal government has considerable legal power over the gas sector. The authorities decide on the main principles of gas pricing by claiming that gas prices must be indexed/linked to their pre-1990 levels (Spanjer 2007: 2891). Natural gas pricing policy has political consequences. Up to this day, natural gas remains the single primary resource for which the price regulation is determined by historical indicators and not by demand and supply

indicators (Stern 2005). The price level demonstrates the continuing after 1970 policy of promoting the gas use in country's economy. The gasification policy served two main goals: domestic prices were kept low to encourage gas use, and to stimulate considerable investments in building vast infrastructure to supply natural gas countrywide. During 1998 Russian financial crisis, artificially low gas prices were important not only as a social support, but also as a means of facilitating the recovery of production sectors. Up to 2006, the domestic gas policy consisted of controlled and slow increase in regulated prices which were just above the domestic level of inflation along with graduate modification in the institutional structure of the market (Mitrova 2009: 27).

At present, the prices have dual nature giving subsidy to an energy-inefficient economy and Russian households (Under the current wholesale price scheme ¹³ two customer categories are defined: domestic customers and customers in power companies and industrial sectors, etc. Such differentiation by consumer comes from the practice of cross-subsidies. Rather low residential prices on gas are sustained at the expense of much higher industrial prices. Wholesale prices also depend on geographic zones). In this regard, it can be argued that Gazprom as the only subsidy-providing firm in the market fulfills the social role of natural monopoly.

Wholesale prices are regulated by the state represented by the Federal Tariff Service, which up to 2009, have not provided minimal production profitability. Gazprom supplies most of the regulated sector: but only Gazprom is bound to deliver gas at regulated prices, while independents may sell at market prices. In this sense, the company cannot be referred as natural monopoly in its classical treatment as it does not have power to set the price (Gazprom buys gas from independent producers at regulated prices and sells it already market prices).

¹³ Wholesale gas price components include: wholesale gas price; tariffs for gas transportation through gas distribution networks; fees for supply and sales services

While supplying gas at low rate to the part of domestic customers may be not beneficial to Gazprom, the latter fact seems to be playing into the hands of the monopolist.

2.3.2.1 Unified gas pricing

Although the government and the company both agree on the need for higher domestic prices, their price change philosophies (as well as views over speed of reform) differ. Initially, the government was in favor of a continuation of past pricing scheme and gradual increase in prices surpassing inflation. Thus Gazprom supported liberalization of gas prices for industrial customers (Brief Write-up on Russian Gas).

At the end of 2006, pricing policy started to change. The government made a decision to put regulated wholesale prices up for industrial users, thus allowing Gazprom to provide a limited share of gas at market-based prices, with a goal to achieve parity with netback from exports to Europe by 2011, and also to increase the deregulated share of the market (Mitrova: 36, Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009, Meeting of the RF Government on November 30, 2006). However, it is important to stress the fact that the Russian government specified that supplies at wholesale prices from 2011 would affect all customers of Gazprom but the residential (Decree on Improving State Regulation of Gas Prices May 28 2007).

This pricing model can hardly be viewed as liberalization but rather as a regulated shift to higher prices; a move towards marketization of the sector.

But this policy has brought about some financial results: if up till 2009 losses at the domestic market Gazprom covered with excess returns from exports (82% gross revenues) during the meeting of investors in February 2010 the gas concern for the first time ever reported profits gained at the domestic market in the previous year (According to Interfax, citing the deputy chairman of Gazprom Andrey Kruglov). The profit for the period amounted to 70 billion rubles. However, Gazprom asserts that such a level of sales is still substantially below the one that can ensure effective development of the Russian gas business. According to an analysis

from the investment company Univer Capital, in 2008, the cost of 1 thousand of cubic meters was 50 dollars, while gas production itself was around 48 dollars. where Gazprom was mainly spending on transportation and operation of the transport system (Topalov February 5 2010). Therefore, it is natural that the company supported the plan about the new price formula and advocated for all prices to reach the equal profitability. In the words of the Gazprom CEO Alexei Miller, the continued disparity in prices and lacking of inter-fuel competition in the domestic market greatly limits the process of economic modernization (27 October 2009).

As of fall 2009, Gazprom took notice of the information that it had already signed long-term

As of fall 2009, Gazprom took notice of the information that it had already signed long-term gas supply contracts with the majority of industrial users stipulating the use of market-based price formula from 2011 (Gazprom Considers Pricing Policy for Natural Gas and Oil Products Supplied to Russian Consumers in Crisis Environment 29 October 2009)

Despite the fact that the gas concern repeatedly insisted on the Government's earlier decisions of transition to market parity to be implemented within the stipulated timeframe, for several times, the government corrected and postponed their final date of entering into force.

Up to date, achieving parity with export prices has been put off at least till 2013 or even 2014-2015¹⁴. In particular, in January 2010 it was declared that a three-year state budget did not encompass a mechanism of transition to equal prices, and amendments to this article were not planned.

However, Gaprom still received concessions on determining gas prices. As one source in the Ministry of Economic Development reported, government specialized agencies were discussing the possibility of introducing a new mechanism for determining the wholesale prices. If it is to be introduced, the Federal Tariff Service will not set a maximum growth rate of wholesale prices for fuel, its price will be calculated using a formula based on the cost of gas exports. According to experts, such a scheme would be more fair – more flexible, market-

¹⁴ forecasts vary depending on different analysts and statements made by different ministries

based and less prescriptive – though would bring less profits to the gas monopolist (Nazarova 18 January 2010). As this example prompts, it is the state, not the regulatory authorities, have a final word over the price levels, thus directly exercising power over Gazprom, though the state policy is rather inconsistent and contradicting at times when it tries to accommodate the commercial interests of the company, as well as a pragmatic need to fill in the coffers, and social obligations of the state.

In the context of the government's changes in the price policy, the concern had to correct its plans, too. Just a few months after it was insisting on implementing decision on market prices in accordance with the earlier agreed schedule, Gazprom declared plans to enter the equal profitability of domestic gas prices with export ones in 2014 during the meeting with its investors. It must be said that the government regulation of prices and tariffs make the state company generally inflexible in terms of ability to compete with independent producers on offering better payment terms or price to customers. The recent example of Novatek winning the contract to supply a state-controlled power enterprise OGK-1 which usually was buying gas from Gazprom, proves the case (Kefferputz: 2009). This also means that the company does not entirely fit the definition of a natural monopoly as a provider of goods at lower costs; independent producers are now starting to have this advantage.

2.3.2.2 Transmission Tariffs for Independent Producers

For producers not affiliated to the Gazprom Group, the rate of gas transmission through the UGSS is also determined by the Federal Service for Tariffs. After gaining access to the monopolist's system, the producers are required to pay the government-regulated tariff.

Before 2006 a single rate per 1,000 m3/100 km was applied. The setting system was characterized by the unofficial methodology for determining rates. Tariffs were based on consolidated cost data of gas transportation enterprises affiliated with Gazprom and therefore were questioned by independent producing companies and industry watchers (Brief Write-up

on Russian Gas). From 2006 on, new methodology is employed under which the tariff consists of two components: a charge for transporting 1000 m3 per 100 km and a charge for utilizing gas main pipelines, which is determined depending on where gas enters and exits the system (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). But again, Gazprom complains that the tariff does not cover the company's costs on maintaining and modernization of the gas supply system (ibid) demanding from the government more tangible rate increases instead of annual directive change.

2.3.3 Gazprom's Monopoly

Arguably, the /main stumbling block to development of free and competitive market/ in the Russian gas market is Gazprom's monopoly over the Unified Gas Supply System (UGSS) of Russia.

2.3.3.1 Domestic Monopoly

Gas Transmission Network is the system of trunk pipelines of the Unified Gas Supply System of Russia (UGSS). It is the main gas pipeline system in the Russian Federation, providing transportation of produced and processed gas from producing areas to consumers within the country, and Gazprom is currently a single operator of the entire system of 157 thousand km long. The concern asserts that due to centralized management of the UGSS, the system has a significant reliability and is able to supply gas without interruptions even during seasonal peak demand (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). Such position is being supported by the Federal Law on Gas Supply dated March 1999 stating that only single gas supply system ensures reliable gas supply, safe and sustainable operation of facilities. Liquidation of the company - the owner of the system, that is Gazprom, - can be initiated only in accordance with Federal Law (Federal Law on Gas Supply, Article 14 on indivisibility of the unified gas supply system). Equal access to the Gazprom pipes is one of the main challenges of the industry. As a subject of natural monopoly, OAO Gazprom holds a dominant position in the

market for gas transportation within the network. Independent companies produce about 14-16 percent of the total volume and arguably could produce more if not the restrictions on access to the system.

Formally, independent producers are being provided with access to the transportation system of Gazprom since 1999. Access to it is regulated by the Federal Law on Gas Supply in Russia and by provision about access of independent companies to the gas transmission system (GTS) of Gazprom. Under the current legislation, the owner of GTS must ensure non-discriminatory access to any company conducting business in Russia, to free capacities of gas transportation and distribution networks. However, Gazprom is within its rights to provide access to independent producers to the GTS only if there is spare capacity for the expectable period of gas supply (Federal Law on Gas Supply in the Russian Federation). Also, the article 10 of the Law on Protection of Competition prohibits actions on the part of a market participant with dominant position which result or may result in prevention, restriction or elimination of competition or infringement of interests of others (FAS will consider antimonopoly case by complain by Rosneft against Gazprom 28 October 2009).

It should be noted that though the rate of gas transmission via pipelines of Gazprom for independent companies is determined by the RF Federal Service for Tariffs, Gazprom's supply planning is ruled by the Gazprom Gas Resource Allocation Guidelines, which deal with production by independent gas producers and gas exports (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). Put it in a nutshell, it is Gazprom who decides on access to its trunklines and how much gas can be transported and supplied and to which customers.

Theoretically, the Russian system of regulation was formed in compliance with international experience; however, as could be seen from the case above, it has its own specifics. Under regulation just one method is understood: Price or tariff setting, whereas regulation of service quality, monitoring of compliance with the rules of market behavior, licensing, provision of

access to infrastructure for other producers are insufficiently institutionalized (Zotov, Gallyamova: 84). As in case of the mentioned in the first chapter common practices of regulation, methods of regulation of natural monopolies indicated in the Russian state official documents, also include price regulation through setting tariffs or setting their limit levels; identification of users who are subject to mandatory supply of the good produced by the natural monopoly, given the need to protect the rights and interests of citizens and national security considerations (Federal Law on Natural Monopolies, Article 6). However, regulatory bodies in Russia are not insulated from the state and therefore its political and economic

and, most importantly, its implementation do not allow unrestricted access for independents to the Gazprom pipelines. Ensuring access for independents to transmission networks should not be limited to development and improvement of formal acts that regulate the terms of access.

It is obvious that even the most efficient regulatory framework, in the absence of mechanisms and authorities to ensure its implementation, cannot compel the owner and operator of gas transportation system not to discriminate against other market players.

Each year and quarter Mezhregiongaz informs

Gazprom about gas volumes supplied during a

preceding year (quarter). Moreover,

Complaint filed by Rosneft against Gazprom, September 2009

In the statement OAO Rosneft indicated that in April-August 2009, Gazprom was illegally restricting the gas acceptance to its gas transportation system, justifying it with the actual curtailment of gas demand in the Russian Federation. In the meantime, all the gas produced by OAO Rosneft was contracted and distributed among consumers. As a result, Rosneft had to flare unrealized associated gas and pay a fine for violating environmental laws (Forbes Russia 29 October 2009).

FAS of Russia initiated a case on the basis of statements by Rosneft in violation of requirements of the antimonopoly legislation by restricting admission to the gas transmission system (GTS)/on limiting competition (Federal Antimonopoly Service 28 October, 2009). The first hearing was to held on 2 December, 2009. The penalty was estimated to be in the range of 0.7 to 10.6 bln. rubles (Forbes Russia, 28 October 2009).

Mezhregiongaz collects consumers' requests for the coming year. Gas is allocated according to the data provided. Gazprom also claims that it provides extra gas volumes to its customers but only in case of spare capacity of the system and in case other domestic and export commitments allow to do so.

In every way Gazprom denies restricting access to its pipes for independents. Gazprom claims that it is interested in the development of the gas market and increase in production by independent producers. The company continuously asserts that it complies with all the bids for access, as well as requests for extra volumes from its customers, except those cases when it is not possible out of technical reasons, such as limited capacity in the UGSS (Gazprom in Questions and Answers 2009). However in practice independents still report abuse on the part of the operator, though to a lesser extent in recent years.

But if previously Gazprom explained its denial of access by overload of the system, now according to the statement made by head of department of control over fuel and energy complex at FAS during the conference of Russian Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, the monopolist reportedly openly prevents independents from implementing long-term contracts already concluded between them and their customers. Independent gas producers complained to the Federal Monopoly Service arguing that under different pretexts the monopoly was not just limiting their access to the transmission system, but also predisposing/inclining consumers to conclude new contracts to buy gas directly from Gazprom (Gazprom Has Again Blocked the Pipe 1 June 2009). ¹⁵

Rights of non-discriminatory access to Gazprom's pipes are under discussion for a long time. In summer 2008 FAS developed and submitted to the Government and the Ministry of Justice a draft decree that aims to facilitate the access of independent gas producers to the Gazprom system of gas supply. The document was approved by the Ministry of Energy, Ministry of

¹⁵ TransNafta case: beginning of 2009, for the first time FAS penalized Gazprom.

Economic Development of the Russian Federation, Federal Tariff Service, but met with Gazprom's opposition. FAS proposed to oblige Gazprom to disclose all information on free capacity (for up to five years and five years in advance) on a regular basis and provide access to the trunklines to all independent gas producers. According to the document, Gazprom is required to meet all the bids by the independent producers. However, it only applies to long-term contracts of at least a year. In case if volumes of long-term bids exceed the available spare capacity, then each company would receive a proportional quota (Free Economic Zone 6 August 2008).

Released capacity which independent producers can claim for, amounts to 12-15 percent. Experts note that this is not enough. For the competitive market the capacity should be at least 25 percent. Gas monopoly has not spoken out sharply against non-discriminatory access, but neither has it tried to assist with establishing such rules. Experts note that the procedure itself is rather long because the internal coordination will take a long time (FEZ 05 August 2008). For abuse of dominance, Gazprom could face a fine of 1 to 15% of yearly revenues in the relevant market. In June 2009 the head of the Russian Federal Antimonopoly Service Igor Artemyev announced that the bill might have been signed by the end of the current year noting that the work on the document had been frozen due to the economic crisis (FST Confirmed Tariffs Increase for the Gas Importation 18 December 2009).

However, there are doubts that the monopoly will be penalized for new complaints. Every time each individual case will be considered, but in times of crisis, it will be easier for Gazprom to gain justification for its actions. Not only gas production falls but also its purchase, and economic interests of Gazprom are taken into account. This example shows the privileged position the company enjoys, thus stat by its allowance of such behavior sonly increases abuse power of the monopolist. As practice in other countries shows, natural monopolies can work (even if state-owned) but then there has to be a very strong state with a

very clear strategic view and an ability to sometimes address the negative aspects of monopoly instead of compensating them – and this is exactly opposite from what can be observed in the Russian example. In any case, the bill on the equal access has not been yet agreed with the Government, which gives advantages to the monopolist.

Previous experience of independents indicates that fighting with Gazprom is troublesome. And therefore doubts can be raised whether a complaint coming even from a significant industry actor like Rosneft will make a difference. In this context, news about the government postponing once again consideration of the adoption of rules of non-discriminatory access to gas transportation system of Gazprom come as no surprise. This case arguably demonstrates contradictions and lack of conformity within the state itself, between different groupings and ministries.

2.3.3.2 Export Monopoly

The issue of Gazprom's monopoly over the transportation system intertwines with its monopoly over exports, and in actual fact monopoly over exports result from the company's monopoly over UGSS.

Till 2006 exports were in de-facto monopoly of Gazprom, but with the federal law "On Gas Export" that came into force in July 2006¹⁶, it became de-jure. Gazprom got an exclusive right on exports of gas from all variety of hydrocarbon fields in Russia and delivered in a gaseous or liquid state. Moreover, according to the law, only the owner of the system has a right to issue licenses for gas export (Draft of Federal Law "On Gas Exports").

The law introducers made reliability of supply under a single operator the leading idea of the bill arguing that its development was based on the need to protect the economic and foreign policy interests of the Russian Federation, the implementation of international commitments on export of gas, to ensure federal budget revenues and to maintain the energy balance of the

_

¹⁶ On 5th July 2006 The Lower House of the Russian parliament passed the bill making Gazprom a sole exporter

Russian Federation" As stated in the explanatory memorandum to the bill, a single operator will eliminate the competition of Russian suppliers abroad, and this, in turn, may lead to "considerable reduction in export gas prices". In turn, interests of suppliers and the state will be "optimally" ensured, because currently, as State Duma deputies asserted, the regulation of gas exports was completely removed from the sphere of state control (Lobbying campaign "Adoption of the Law" "On Gas exports").

Arguably, formalization of this norm in law gave significant support to Gazprom. The law consolidated the existing trend of development of the Russian gas industry and gave new impetus to Gazprom to gain direct control over independent producers.

Furthermore, adoption of the Law, as it later turned out, affected not only the independent gas producers, but oil companies even to a greater extent. Gazprom managed to take over their exports of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) used for household needs and gas condensate.

Since then, as the Law was passed, Gazprom opposes any change since exports are the source of income for Gazexport, which can serve the oil companies earning on commissions. Moreover, the situation was specific in a way that none of the specialized agencies wanted to participate in a conflict.

The need to adjust the law became apparent with the crisis with exports of LPG during the autumn of 2006. Then it was decided on making amendments to the law by excluding LPG from its jurisdiction in May 2009.

This may be an additional consideration but the law may also carry out another goal. It can potentially be a powerful tool in case of settling controversial situations with independent producers. While the bill was still considered, the deputy general director Sergey Ezhov brought the example of conflict situation between Gazprom and Russian-British TNK-BP with regard to Kovykta development. He admitted that the changes might apply to Kovykta deposits. The independent producer would not be able to build its own export pipeline while it

was a big deposit and it was sensible to develop it with export perspective. After the law is in place, the Russian state-owned company will de-facto secure the field for its own. Of course the plans by TNK-BP to build its own export channel were rather speculative, but actually there were such plans. The same rationale could possibly be applied to any other conflict situation of a similar kind.

According to the Federal Anti-Monopoly Service, it has repeatedly tried to weaken Gazprom's monopoly over exports and has been elaborating on a mechanism to allow independent producers to take part in exports or gain part of revenues from export sales. However even if 10 percent of exports had gone to independents at that time, the concern could have lost about 2.2 billion dollars in 2007 (FAS to Curtail Gazprom Export 20 April 2007).

It may be concluded that Gazprom as an exports monopolist is a long player unless it has support of the Kremlin/Administration, and the current leadership suggests that it does: in September 2009 during the Investment Forum "Russia Calls" Prime-Minister Mr. Putin stated that monopoly over exports would be preserved in the short-term, although it may change over time (Monopoly On Export Will be Retained in the Nearest Future 29 September 2009).

CHAPTER 3 – EVALUATIONS OF REFORM OPTIONS

The analysis of the state of affairs in the Russian gas sector presented in the chapter two accentuated a few key peculiarities which certainly must be taken into account when evaluating the reform trajectories. They can be summarized as follows:

- Gazprom is not a natural monopoly in its classical treatment and the state is not a regulator in its classical understanding, but rather the biggest stakeholder nourishing its monopolistic grip;
- Political and commercial goals are mutually influential and intertwined and sometimes run contrary to each other thus complicating the decision-making process: Decisions made by Gazprom and with regard to the gas sector development are influenced by politics, as well as political decisions are oftentimes affected by Gazprom strategic needs;
- The role of the gas sector for the rest of the Russian economy and the State budget persists to be significant.

In consideration of these factors, the current chapter provides the analysis of energy policy reform options, outlined in the first chapter, and their probability to be realized in the current gas sector realm.

3.1 Domestic price increase

The Russian state has ambivalent motives regarding the bringing up the domestic prices.

Raise in internal prices for industrial users is already taking place in the Russian domestic market. As could be seen from the analysis carried out in chapter two, this is the area where

the change is real as interests of both the state and Gazprom, if not fully coincide, then at least are represented. If in future prices reach the European level, for the company this would mean a main opportunity boost its revenues, and for the government this would translate into revenues in taxes and contribute to gradual reduction of the gas share in the energy balance (Victor 2008: 39; Mitrova 2008: 77). However, increase in price levels for industrial users is more of a natural evolution and pragmatic decision out of revenue considerations than a genuine move towards liberalization. It will be very challenging for market prices to evolve while Gazprom is a dominant player in the market (Stern 2005: 177) with the state itself supporting its monopolistic role. At this point, the discussion on price liberalization reaches a virtual dead end as the latter (Gazprom as supplier of households) cannot be doubted. The prices for residential users will remain untouched and will continue to be regulated for the considerable period of time. Though for the gas concern, as allegedly a business entity, it is not a beneficial situation, but after all, as a director of gas research at the Oxford Institute for Energy Studies J. Stern points out, Gazprom was initially a state creature (2005: 187), and from the beginning this relationship of the state versus Gazprom has seen deep penetration of politics into energy business. The Russian state in its social safety policy relies heavily on gas as a main subsidy and therefore increase in residential prices would seriously undermine the state's energy-intensive economy and welfare (Spanjer 2007: 2894; Grigoryev 2007: 343).

3.2 Structural reform

A split-up of Gazprom's production and exports is by no means on the agenda while the state budget earns big profits from gas exports. This issue closely interwines with *exports liberalization:* Some experts see desirable to give up the monopoly on gas exports and instead introduce some competition rather than having a single national champion. However, any actions that threat to jeopardize profits from the European market earned by the Russian state and Gazrom, are to be declined (IEA 2002: 121). The significant restructuring reform

(ownership unbundling) or allowing competition on exports level would mean a drastic fall in export prices due to emerging competition, and, as a consequence, sharp cutbacks in the Budget earnings. If revenues from exports to Europe are to significantly shrink, then the restructuring would be theoretically feasible and favorable for Russia. But if this change ever takes place, then it may occur only under severe external pressure and not in the foreseeable future. Another factor that comes into play at this very moment is Gazprom's political influence which keeps the state from splitting the company (Tsyagankova 2010: 913). Gazprom is not interested in its weakened position on a foreign market, as well as the state, in a role of a major shareholder, is not attracted by this perspective.

3.3 Separating the infrastructure

Gazprom's actual monopolistic power is mainly rooted in its ownership and regulation of the pipeline network. Therefore, as advised by many specialists, this natural monopoly element needed to be extracted out of its ownership (Ahrend Tompson: 17). While this may be the first optimal solution (but not achievable in the short-term perspective as it will meet opposition by Gazprom, and again, the reform will get bogged down in governmental agencies), at the heart of the issue lies ensuring better access to the pipelines for the independents which also implies improvements in common carriage policy and transparent tariff system (Grigoryev 2007: 3043).

3.4 Third-party access to the pipeline

Until very recently, it was not in economic interest of Gazprom to allow other companies to enter the UGSS. And since economic interests of the monopolist are oftentimes recognized as an analogue of public interests of the country, such access was not beneficial for Russia on the whole as this would be a hindrance to tackling socially significant tasks (according to the monopolist's stance). In other words, this represents the paradigm of the contemporary

Russian monopoly that formed in early 90's under conditions of the state paternalism and persists to exist.

The odds are that on the domestic level there exists the chance of improvement out of the monopolist's pragmatic considerations: since in its Growth Strategy Gazprom envisages the increase of its export capacities and diversification of its businesses (Gaining Momentum, Gazprom's Investor's Day) and since its own level of production has seized (while independent's production has seen a significant rise since 1990's), it starts to realize the need to fill the gap in supply in the domestic market.

In conclusion, it must be said that a series of private informal conversations with Russian state officials and Russian energy sector specialists¹⁷ have backed the following argument about the future of the Russian gas sector: no radical reform is expected unless there is a real political change in a sense that energy would to have to be viewed in a different way as it is at the moment. The Russian state traditionally sees monopoly as the basis for overall transformation and very personal and financial interests in that, "because authorities believe that big money should be controlled by the state" (former Economy Minister under Boris N. Yeltsin Yasin for Business week)¹⁸. Therefore, efficiency may be not of first priority, but as critics admit, rather political and financial considerations overweigh. Thus, the policy recommendations of the World Bank, OECD and others who argue for unbundling and liberalization of the Russian gas industry, although maybe being economically logical and attractive, may not take into account the intertwined interests and agendas in the sector and thus are not necessarily applicable to the Russian context.

¹⁷ The informal conversations were carried out by the author but eventually were not included in the present study as a tool of research

¹⁸ Bush 20 December 2004

CONCLUSION

The paper departed from the premise of an existing natural monopoly over the sector. However, theory of natural monopoly is not able to explain the failure to reform the Russian gas sector despite significant structural changes in the major industry sectors in other countries and therefore the reform methods, traditionally applied to natural monopolies, will not succeed in the Russian reality. By analyzing the Russian gas sector, the thesis aimed at defining the real obstacles to the reform by looking at correlation of state and Gazprom interests and stances on three key levels: investment policy, price-setting, and Gazprom's monopoly over the transmission network. The examination of the sectoral major challenges revealed that Gazprom could be hardly named an ordinary gas monopoly in its classical treatment and the state, in its turn, a classical regulator; on the opposite, the state, as a major stakeholder, oftentimes increases the monopoly grip. The business "organizational model" has been overhauled in favor of higher state involvement which resulted in a new form of privatepublic, hybrid governance. Gazprom serves as an example of such hybrid nature (Locatelli 2008: 18). The study proves that not only the state examines power over Gazprom and decides on developments in the gas sector, but the company itself does have a real influence over the decision-making process. The confusion of long- and short-term interests may prompt the state to pursue goals (like aiming for higher profits from the gas exports and at the same time making Gazprom delivering political and social goals) which at the end aggravate the opaque practices in the sector making introduction of reform measures very challenging.

This may potentially lead to weakening of economy because of the confluence of politics and economics – but this is yet to be realized by the current Administration.

Therefore, no essential reform is expected unless there is a real political change in a sense that energy will seize to be seen as 'a cushion' for the rest of economy and generator of major budget revenues. If revenues from exports to Europe are to significantly shrink, then the restructuring would be theoretically feasible in Russia. But if this change ever takes place, then it may occur only under severe external pressure and not in the near future.

The current research may serve as a basis for further studies on how the confluence of state and business could be resolved on each level examined in the thesis, in order to elaborate on the detailed policy recommendations on the matter.

REFERENCE LIST

Ahrend, Rudiger & Tompson, William. Russia's Gas Sector: The Endless Wait for Reform? OECD Economics Department Working Papers. Vol. 25 (402). Pp. 1-37. 2004.

Berg, Sanford V. & Tschirhart, John. Natural Monopoly Regulation: Principles and Practices. 1988. NY: Press Syndicate University of Cambridge.

Bradburd, Ralph. Privatization of Natural Monopoly Public Enterprises: The Regulation Issue. 1995. Review of Industrial Organization

Brief Write-up on Russian Gas Reserves, Production, Consumption and Import-Export Volumes. CORE International, Inc. May 17, 2006. Available at http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADK348.pdf.

Газовые потери бюджета/ Budget Gas Losses. Expert Online. 23 April, 2010. Available at http://www.expert.ru/news/2010/04/23/gazovye poteri.

Bush, Jason. The Bigger Gazprom Grows, The Further Russia Backslides. December 20, 2004. Available at http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/04 51/b3913077 mz054.htm

Бутыркин А. / Butyrkin, А. Проблемы Реформирования Естественных Монополий / Problems of Reforming Natural Monopolies. Мировая Экономика и Международные Отношения / International Economics and International Relations. Vol.12. Pp. 3-11

Crook M.D. Contemporary forms and mechanisms of corporate governance. 2000

DiLorenzo, Thomas J. The Myth of Natural Monopoly. 1996. The Review of Austrian Economics 9(2)

Clifford, Gaddy & Barry, Ickes. Resource Rents and the Russian Economy. Eurasian Geography and Economics, Vol. 46, No. 8. 2005.

Depoorter, Ben W.F. REGULATION OF NATURAL MONOPOLY. 1999. University of Ghent, Center for Advanced Studies in Law and Economics Available at http://www.scribd.com/doc/239525/Regulation-of-a-Natural-Monopoly

Дерябина М. / Deryabina, М. Реформирование естественных монополий: теория и практика / Reforming the Natural Monopolies: Theory and Practice. Вопросы экономики / Economy Issues. Vol. 1. Pp. 102-121. 2006.

Economic Survey of the Russian Federation. OECD. 2004. Available at http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/42/54/32495048.pdf.

Elder. UN? Miriam A Gazprom the GlobalPost seat at January 2009 Available http://www.globalpost.com/dispatch/russia-and-its-13. at neighbors/090113/gazprom-seat-at-the-un

Евпланов, Андрей / Evplanov, Andrey. Добываем столько, сколько можем продать / We Extract as Much as We Can Sell. Российская Бизнес-газета/ Russian Business-Newspaper. 7 July, 2009. Available at http://www.rg.ru/2009/07/07/gasprom.html.

ФАС урежет «Газпрому» экспорт/ FAS to Curtail Gazprom Export. 20 April, 2007. Available at http://www.fas.gov.ru/article/a 12541.shtml. .

ФАС России рассмотрит антимонопольное дело в отношении Газпрома по жалобе Роснефти / FAS will consider antimonopoly case by complain by Rosneft against Gazprom. Федеральная антимонопольная служба / Federal Antimonopoly Service. 28 October, 2009. Available at http://fas.pro.w3c.ru/fas-news/fas-news_27345.html.

Federal Law "On Gas Supply in the Russian Federation No 69-FZ. 1999. Available at Garant Database.

Federal Law "On Gas Exports". No. 117- FZ. 2006. Available at Garant Database. Fischer, S. & Dornbusch, R & Schmalensee, R. Economics. 1995. Moskovskoye Delo. Available at http://institutiones.com/download/books/697-fisher-economics.html

Gazprom Considers Pricing Policy for Natural Gas and Oil Products Supplied to Russian Consumers in Crisis Environment. SKRIN Market & Corporate News. 29 October, 2009. Available at http://www.allbusiness.com/energy-utilities/utilities-industry-electric-powerity/13335236-1.html

Gazprom in Questions and Answers. 2009. Available at http://eng.gazpromquestions.ru/?id=1

Gazprom Will Save Money on the State. Institute of Natural Monopolies. 30 September 2009. Available at http://ipem.ru/index.php/2008-08-13-11-25-22/2008-08-14-07-49-32/750-lr---.html.

Газпрому» отдадут экспорт по закону/ Gazprom will be given Export in Accordance with Law. 07 June, 2006. Available at http://www.top-personal.ru/newsissue.html?570.

Gorodetskii, A.&Pavlenko, Iu. The Reform of Natural Monopolies.Problems of Economic Transition, Vol. 43, No.12. Pp. 50-62. April 2001.

Горохова, Е.В. / Gorokhova, Е. Трансформация роли естественных монополий в изменяющейся экономической системе России/ Transformation of the Role of the Natural

Monopolies in the Changing Economic System in Russia. Известия Иркутской Государственной Академии / News bulletin of Irkutsk State Economic Academy. 2007. Vol. 5. Available at http://izvestia.isea.ru/pdf.asp?id=4676

Gray, D. Reforming the Energy Sector in Transition Economies. World Bank Discussion Papers. Washington, DC: World Bank. No. 296. 1995.

Гриб, Наталья / Grib, Natalya. "Газпрому" Черное море по колено/ For Gazprom the Black Sea is to the knee. Коммерсант/ Kommersant. 9 February, 2009. Available at http://www.kommersant.ru/doc.aspx?DocsID=1115917

Grigoryev, Yuli. Today or Not Today: Deregulating the Russian Gas Sector. Energy Policy. Vol. 35, Issue 5. Pp. 3036-3045. 2007.

Gustafson, T., Crisis amid Plenty: The Politics of Soviet Energy under Brezhnev and Gorbachev. 1989. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Гудков И.В./ Gudkov I. Обзор нормативно-правового регулирования отношений в газовой отрасли РФ/ Review of Legislative Regulation of the Relations in Gas Sector. Московский журнал международного права/ Moscow Journal of International Law. Pp. 202-212. 2005. Available at http://www.law.edu.ru/article/article.asp?articleID=1223839

ФСТ утвердило рост тарифов на газ и транспортировку на 2010г./ FST Confirmed Tariffs Increase For the Gas Importation. RosBusinessConsulting. 18 December, 2009. Available at http://www.quote.ru/stocks/news/2009/12/18/32655711.shtml.

Helm, Dieter & Kay, John & Thompson, David. The Market for Energy. Oxford: Clarendon Press. 1989.

Hirschhausen, Engerer. Post-Soviet Gas Sector Restructuring in the CIS: A political economy approach. Energy Policy, Vol. 26. No. 15. Pp. 1113-1123. 1998.

Hirschhausen, C & Waelde, T. W. The End of Transition: an institutional interpretation of energy sector reform in Eastern Europe and the CIS. Economic Policy in Transitional Economies. Vol. 11, N. 1. Pp. 91-108. 2001. Available at http://www.springerlink.com/content/x4n362044k7n902m/

Инвестиции в нефтегазовый сектор сокращать опасно/ It is dangerous to reduce investments in oil and gas sector/ The Council of Federation Parliamentary Round-up. Парламентское обозрение / Parliamentary Review. December, 2009. No. № 11(89). Available at http://council.gov.ru/inf_ps/parlisurvey/2009/12/93/item4829.html

Joksow, Paul. Regulation of Natural Monopolies. CEEPR. 2005. Available at http://web.mit.edu/ceepr/www/publications/workingpapers/2005-008.pdf

Камынина Е.Ю., Лапынин Ю.Г./ Е/ Катупіпа, Y. Lapynin. Некоторые теоретические и практические проблемы оптимизации деятельности естественных монополий в России (на примере OAO «ГАЗПРОМ») / Some Theoretical and Practical Problems of Optimization of Natural Monopolies in Russia (Example of "Gazpom"). Современные наукоемкие технологии /Contemporary High Technologies. Vol. 12. 2007. Available at http://elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=9925705

<u>Козырев</u>, Михаил/ Kozyrev, Mikhail. Как победить «Газпром»/ How to Defeat Gazprom 29 October 2009 Available at http://www.forbes.ru/ekonomika/kompanii/22112-kak-pobedit-%C2%ABgazprom%C2%BB

Kramer, Andrew E. Gazprom, Once Mighty, Is Reeling. The New York Times. December 29, 2008. Available at http://www.nytimes.com/2008/12/30/business/worldbusiness/30gazprom.html

Kramer, Andrew. Falling Gas Prices Deny Russia a Lever of Power. May 15, 2009. Available at http://www.nytimes.com/2009/05/16/world/europe/16gazprom.html?_r=1&ref=global-home List of Russia's Strategic Industries May be Shortened Rianovosti June 2, 2008 Available at http://en.rian.ru/russia/20080602/109065636.html

Лоббистская кампания кампания 'Принятие закона "Об экспорте газа"/ Lobbying Campaign "Adoption of the law "on gas exports". 19 July 2006 Available at http://www.lobbying.ru/content/campanies/id 23.html

Locatelli, Catherine. The Viability of Deregulation in the Russian Gas Industry. Journal of Energy and Development. Vol. 28. No. 2. Pp. 221-38. 2003.

Locatelli, Catherine. Gazprom's Export Strategies Under the Institutional Constraint of the Russian Gas Market. OPEC Energy Review, Vol. 32, No. 3, pp. 246-264, September 2008. Available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=1294996 or doi:10.1111/j.1753-0237.2008.00151.x

Малинникова, Е. / Malinnikova, Е.. Естественные монополии в экономике России: проблемы, противоречия и первые итоги/ Natural Monopolies in Russian Economy. Экон.журнал Высш шк.экономики / Economic Journal of Higher School of Economics. Vol. 2. Pp. 516-535. 1998.

Mitrova, Tatiana. Natural Gas in Transition: Systemic Reform Issues in Russian and CIS Gas Markets and Their Impact on Europe Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2009.

Mitrova, Tatiana. Dynamic Development in Russia's Gas Sector in Pipeline, Politics and Power: The future of EU-Russia energy relations. Centre for European Reform (CER). 2008

Монополия на экспорт газа в ближайшее время будет сохранена – Путин / Monopoly On Export Will be Retained in the Nearest Future – Putin. 29 September, 2009. Available at http://www.rian.ru/economy/20090929/186841576.html.

Морозова, Людмила / Morozova, Ludmila Остались без добычи /Left without Extraction. Российская Бизнес-газета/ Russian Business-Newspaper. 6 October, 2009. Available at http://pda.rg.ru/2009/10/06/saakjan.html

Nazarova, Julia. RBC daily The Formula of Gazprom. 18 January, 2010. Available at http://www.rbcdaily.ru/2010/01/18/tek/452700.

Posner, <u>Richard A.</u> <u>Natural Monopoly and Its Regulation</u>: 30th Anniversary Edition. 1999. Washington D.C.: KATO Institute

Reform of gas sector in Russia. Journal of Competition Law and Policy. OECD. Vol. 4, No. 2. Pp. 149-167. 2002. Available at http://ejournals.ebsco.com/direct.asp?ArticleID=KTNRQYMVKBQ7KDDD0TDF

<u>Рубанов</u>, Иван/ Rubanov, Ivan. Наш ход в европейской газовой партии / Our Move in the European Gas Play. <u>Эксперт/ Expert Online. No. 38 (675)</u>. 2009. Available at http://www.expert.ru/printissues/expert/2009/38/nash hod v partii/

<u>Рубанов</u>, Иван/ Rubanov Ivan. Приватизация энергобаланса страны / Privatization of Energy Balance of the Country. Expert Online. No 7, 19 February, 2007. Available at http://www.expert.ru/printissues/expert/2007/07/

Ручкин, Алексей / Ruchkin, Alexey. Недофинансирование газовой отрасли приведет к сокращению производственного заказа на 1,1 трлн рублей / Underinvestment in the gas industry will lead to contraction of production order of 1.1 trn. Rubles. 1 October, 2009. Available at http://www.neftegaz.ru/analisis/view/7441/

Russia Energy Survey. International Energy Agency.2002.Available at www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/2000/russia2002.pdf

Russia Enacts Law on Foreign Investment in Strategic Industries. Rianovosti. 7 May, 2008. Available at http://en.rian.ru/russia/20080507/106764813.html 7 May 2008

Russia Moves Forward on Foreign Investment Law. Reuters. 6 March, 2008. Available at http://in.reuters.com/article/idINL0688618420080306

Shepherd, William G. The Economics of Industrial Organization. London: Prentice-Hall International, 1990.

Stern, Jonathan P. The Future of Russian Gas and Gazprom. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press. 2005.

Святенков, <u>Павел</u> / Svyatenkov, Pavel. «Газпром» как модель РФ/ Gazprom as model of RF. Aгенство Политических Новостей/ Agency of Political News. 29 March, 2009 Available at http://www.apn.ru/opinions/article16792.htm

Sagen, Eirik Lund & Tsygankova Marina. Russian Natural Gas Exports to Europe:

Effects of Russian Gas Market Reforms and the Rising Market Power of Gazprom. German Institute for Economic Research. 2006. Available at http://www.diw.de/documents/publikationen/73/diw 01.c.44434.de/dp597.pdf

Spanjer, Aldo. Russian Gas Price Reform and the EU–Russia Gas Relationship: Incentives, Consequences and European Security of Supply. Energy Policy. Vol. 35. Pp.2889–2898. 2007.

Thompson, Peter. Reform of the Russian Gas Sector. Paris: International Energy Agency. 2002. http://www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/2000/russia2002.pdf

Топалов, Алексей / Topalov, Alexey. «Газпром» заработал на россиянах / Gazprom Made Money on the Russians. 5 February, 2010. Available at http://www.gazeta.ru/financial/2010/02/05/kz 3320428.shtml

U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) <u>Country Analysis Briefs</u> (Russia Energy Data, Statistics and Analysis - Oil, Gas, Electricity, Coal). Last updated May 2008 http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/cabs/Russia/Background.html

Victor, Nadejda. Gazprom: Gas Giant Under Strain. Program on Energy and Sustainable Development. Stanford: Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies. Available at http://iis-db.stanford.edu/pubs/22090/WP71, Nadja Victor, Gazprom, 13Jan08.pdf

World Energy Outlook. International Energy Agency. 2008

Waterson, Michael. Regulation of the Firm and Natural Monopoly. Oxford: Basil Blackwell Ltd.

1988.

Мы их моментально накажем/ We will Punish Them Immediately. Federal Antimonopoly Service. 12 April, 2007. Available at http://www.fas.gov.ru/fas-in-press/fas-in-press_12332.html.

Зотов А.П., Галлямова Д.Х./ А. Zotov & D. Gallyamova. Методы государственного регулирования функционирующих естественных монополий?/ Methods of State

Regulation of Natural Monopolies? Экономика и Управление/ Economic and Management. Vol. 4 (25). Pp. 83-87. 2006.